IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

Case No. SC05-516

v.

HERBERT DICKEY,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR.
ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT R. WHEELER
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0796409

TRISHA MEGGS PATE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 045489

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
PL-01, THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300
(850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner, the prosecution, or the State. Respondent, Herbert Dickey, the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent or his proper name.

The record on appeal consists of one volume, which will be referenced according to the respective number designated in the Index to the Record on Appeal, followed by any appropriate page number in parentheses.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State had charged the defendant, Herbert Dickey, with felony criminal mischief and felony failure to appear. (I.34). Dickey was represented by private counsel, which he retained. (I.23). On February 9, 1996, Dickey entered a plea of no contest to both offenses. The trial court conducted a plea colloquy and made certain that Dickey understood and desired to enter a plea of no contest to the charge of felony criminal

mischief and failure to appear. (I.20-21). The trial court withheld adjudication of guilt on the failure to appear, and sentenced Dickey according to the plea agreement to two years of probation for the criminal mischief. (I.19-25). On June 3, 1996, the trial court terminated the probation upon Dickey's payment of restitution as set forth in the terms of the plea agreement. (I.10-15).

On May 24, 2001, Dickey filed a motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to this Court's opinion in Wood v. State, 750 So.2d 592 (Fla. 1999). (I.1-7). The trial court found the motion was timely. (I.31). Among several claims, Dickey alleged that his attorney was ineffective for misadvising him because: "Petitioner was told by his Public Defender that he was entering a nolo contendere plea in which adjudication of guilt was withheld and which conviction was a misdemeanor offense which could not be used to enhance any future sentence. Petitioner would not have pled guilty otherwise and his present sentence is enhanced[.]" (I.5). The trial court denied appellant's motion finding that:

Ground Two of Defendant's motion is DENIED because incorrect advice as to future sentence enhancements is not actionable. Bates v. State, 818 So.2d 626(Fla. 1st Dist. Ct. App. 2002); Rhodes v. State, 701 So.2d 388 (Fla. 3d Dist. Ct. App. 1997).

(I.31-32).

Dickey appealed the trial court's order to the First District Court of Appeals. Without briefing from any of the parties, the First District held that "as a matter of law, that counsel's misadvice regarding the collateral consequence of future sentence enhancement constitutes deficient performance."

Dickey v. State, 30 Fla.L.Weekly D443(Fla. 1st DCA Feb. 15, 2005). The First District reasoned that:

Although the Florida Supreme Court initially held that a defendant did not have to be informed by court or counsel of any collateral consequences of a plea and only had to be informed of direct consequences in order for the plea to be considered knowing and voluntary, Ginebra, 511 So.2d at 962, that holding was superseded by Rule 3.172(c), De Abreu, 613 So.2d at 453 (Fla.1993), which now requires that a defendant be informed by the trial court of the potential deportation consequences of his plea. See Partlow, 840 So.2d at 1042-43. Also, the Florida Supreme Court mandated that a defendant who pleads guilty to a crime that subjects him to a potential habitual felony offender sentence must be told that habitualization could affect the possibility of early release. See State v. Wilson, 658 So.2d 521 (Fla.1995); Ashley v. State, 614 So.2d 486, 490 n. 8 (Fla.1993).

Nonetheless, despite the fact that failure to advise as to collateral consequences cannot constitute ineffective assistance of counsel, "[t]he law is well settled that if a defendant enters a plea in reasonable reliance on his attorney's advice, which in turn was based on the attorney's honest mistake or misunderstanding, the defendant should be allowed to withdraw his plea," see Leroux, 689 So.2d at 238 (citing Costello v. State, 260 So.2d 198 (Fla.1972); Brown v. State,

245 So.2d 41 (Fla.1971)), even if the mistaken advice regards a collateral consequence of the plea.

Id. The court stated that "Prejudice sufficient to warrant an evidentiary hearing is established if the defendant alleges that but for the misadvice, the defendant would not have entered the plea." Id. The court held that:

In the present case, appellant has stated a timely, facially sufficient claim entitling him to an opportunity to prove at an evidentiary hearing that his counsel volunteered, or was asked and gave, affirmative misadvice on the future sentence enhancement consequences of his plea, that he relied on that misadvice when entering the plea, and that he would not have entered the plea had it not been for this misadvice. Then, and only then, is appellant entitled to the relief he ultimately seeks: a finding that his counsel was ineffective and a vacation of his conviction and sentence through withdrawal of his plea. If withdrawal of his plea is appellant's election, he does so at his own peril, because the state shall have the opportunity to try him.

We reverse the trial court's summary denial of this claim and remand with instructions that the trial court hold an evidentiary hearing thereon. We recertify the earlier question as a question of great public importance.

Id.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Misadvice regarding the future sentencing enhancing consequences of a plea does not render a plea involuntary and is not a ground for relief in a post-conviction motion claiming ineffective assistance of counsel. Criminal defendants, like all citizens, have a duty to follow the law and refrain from committing criminal acts. Therefore, regardless of whether a defendant is given correct or incorrect advice about future enhanced punishment a defendant is obligated to follow the law. Moreover, unlike other collateral consequence resulting from a plea such as the loss of gain time, additional conditions of supervision, or deportation, a criminal defendant can avoid any future sentencing enhancements by refraining from committing new offenses.

Furthermore, advice on future consequences based on uncertainties is too attenuated to be relied upon. A defendant cannot expect counsel to accurately advise him as to what penalty he will receive for crimes not yet committed. Additionally, the purpose of the sentencing enhancing statutes is to discourage recidivism, and allowing a defendant to withdraw a plea many years later because it was used to enhance a future sentence will encourage recidivism. In fact, a defendant should expect to get punished for committing a new

offense, and a defendant should be aware that a prior conviction for a crime may cause him to be punished more harshly than a first-time offender. Therefore, the misadvice regarding future sentencing consequences does not entitle a defendant to withdraw his plea, and should not be cognizable in a post-conviction motion.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER ALLEGATIONS OF AFFIRMATIVE MISADVICE BY TRIAL COUNSEL ON THE SENTENCE-ENHANCING CONSEQUENCES OF A DEFENDANT'S PLEA FOR FUTURE CRIMINAL BEHAVIOR IN AN OTHERWISE FACIALLY SUFFICIENT MOTION ARE COGNIZABLE AS AN INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIM? (Restated)

Standard of Review

The issue of whether the trial court properly denied the motion for post-conviction relief is a legal determination which this Court reviews de novo.

Preservation

The District Court reviewed this case pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.141(b)(2)(C), which provides that briefs or oral argument are not required. The court did not request briefing from the parties, and therefore the State could not present this argument to the First District.

Argument

Respondent Dickey filed a motion for post conviction relief claiming that his attorney told him that he was entering a nolo contendere plea to an offense which "was a misdemeanor offense which could not be used to enhance any future sentence." ¹(I.5).

¹ Regarding his claim that his attorney misinformed him that he was entering a plea to a misdemeanor, that claim is refuted by

The circuit court denied the claim "because incorrect advice as to future sentence enhancements is not actionable." (I.31-32). The First District erred by finding as a matter of law that misadvice regarding consequences of future misconduct constitutes a deficient performance on the part of counsel. Dickey v. State, 30 Fla. L. Weekly D443 (Fla. 1st DCA Feb. 15, 2005)

"[N]either the defense attorney nor the trial court is duty-bound to anticipate the defendant's recidivism and warn him of the sentence-enhancing consequences his plea may have for any future crimes he commits[.]" Ford v. State, 753 So.2d 595, 596 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000). In Major v. State, 814 So.2d 424 (Fla.2002), this Court held that the trial court and a defendant's attorney are required to inform a defendant only of the direct consequences of his or her plea and have no duty to apprise him or her of the collateral consequences. Id. at 431. "The distinction between 'direct' and 'collateral' consequences of a plea, while sometimes shaded in the relevant decisions, turns on whether the result represents a definite, immediate and largely automatic effect on the range of the defendant's punishment. Id. citing, Zambuto v. State, 413 So.2d 461, 462

the transcript of the plea hearing in which the trial court clarified on the record that Dickey wished to enter a nolo contendere plea to a felony criminal mischief and failure to appear. (I.20-21).

(Fla. 4th DCA 1982). This Court has held that the use of a conviction to enhance a future sentence is a collateral consequence which does not render a plea involuntary. Id. at 428-429.

The First District reasoned that relief has been granted to defendants, who have claimed affirmative misadvice regarding whether a plea would effect availability of permanent citizenship, deportation, civil commitment pursuant to the Sexually Violent Predators Act, gain time, occupational licensing or future employment as a correctional officer, or loss of the right to vote. Dickey. Because relief is granted based showing of reasonable reliance upon the misadvice regarding those collateral consequences, the court concluded that misadvice about future sentencing consequences was grounds for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel as well. Id.

However, the First District overlooked the fact that "unlike other collateral consequences, such as deportation or gain time eligibility, the future sentence-enhancing effects of a guilty plea only apply if the defendant commits a future criminal offense." Stansel v. State, 825 So.2d 1007, 1009 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002). "Thus, the defendant can always avoid the future sentence-enhancing effects of a plea by obeying the law." Id. In fact, "[s]ociety places upon defendants, as it does on

all citizens, an obligation to follow the law." Id. Major v. State, 790 So.2d 550 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001)("As a matter of common sense, a defendant is already under a legal duty not to go out and commit more crimes in the future, regardless of whether the penalty is 'ordinary' or enhanced."). "[B]ecause the defendant is under a legal duty to refrain from committing further crimes. It makes no difference whether the defendant is given correct, or incorrect, advice regarding the possibility of enhanced punishment." Scott v. State, 813 So. 2d 1025 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002). Major v. State, 790 So.2d 550 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001)("The defendant can avoid further sentencing consequences, enhanced or otherwise, by refraining from committing new crimes.").

In fact, "[i]t should be apparent to a defendant that a prior conviction for a crime may cause him to be punished more harshly than a first-time offender." Stansel at 1009. See Lewis v. United States, 902 F.2d 576, 577 (7th Cir.1990) ("The warning is needless; everyone knows that second and subsequent offenders tend to be punished more heavily than first offenders."). "[P]ublication in the Laws of Florida or the Florida Statutes gives all citizens constructive notice of the consequences of their actions." State v. Beasley, 580 So.2d 139, 142 (Fla. 1991). The statutes contain many difference sentence enhancements based upon prior convictions. For

example, prior convictions are used to enhance sentences pursuant to the habitual offender statute, § 775.084, Florida Statute, and the prison releasee reoffender statute, § 775.082(9), Florida Statute. Thus, Dickey should have known that if, in fact, counsel did tell him that his conviction "could not be used to enhance any future sentence", that advice was incorrect.

Moreover, advice on future consequences based on uncertainties is too attenuated to be relied upon. The Third District explained in Collier v. State, 796 So.2d 629 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001), that "[a]ssuming counsel advised defendant that his 1990 plea could not be used against him in the future, such advice is properly viewed as addressing the civil effects of the plea, not future recidivism. 'Neither the court nor counsel is required to advise a defendant what penalty he can expect to receive for crimes not yet committed.'" Id. at 630, citing, Major v. State, 790 So.2d 550, 551, 552 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001).

In Rhodes v. State, 701 So.2d 388, 389 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997), the court stated that:

As a matter of public policy, recidivism should not be encouraged. The "misadvice" allegedly given the defendant in the instant case--the possibility of an enhanced sentence on future crimes--must be distinguished from the "misadvice" given in the cases cited above--advice regarding deportation, gain time eligibility, parole eligibility. The latter issues affect only the

defendant himself, whereas the former could involve the safety of the community as well. We should not encourage recidivism, even implicitly, by adopting a rule of law which requires a defense attorney or trial court to "warn" a defendant of the sentence-enhancing consequences his plea will have as to any future crimes he may commit. See Lewis v. United States, 902 F.2d 576, 577 (7th Cir.1990) ("It [the warning of future sentence enhancement] could even be viewed as an invitation to recidivism...") Moreover, we believe that the possibility of enhanced future sentences has an even more attenuated connection to the disputed plea than do the other collateral consequences deemed sufficiently harmful to the defendant to permit vacation of his plea.

(Emphasis added).

Even if warning a defendant that his conviction will have sentencing-enhancing consequences on future crimes does not encourage recidivism, certainly allowing a defendant to withdraw a plea many years later because it was used to enhance a future sentence does encourage recidivism. "[T]he purpose of enhancement statutes is to punish and deter recidivism." Bates v. State, 818 So.2d 626, 630 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002), quashed on other grounds, 887 So.2d 1214(Fla. 2004). "To allow [a defendant] to withdraw his plea based on affirmative misadvice of counsel concerning future sentencing enhancing consequences of his plea would frustrate this purpose." Id. See McKowen v. State, 831 So.2d 794, 796 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002)("concluding that a defendant is not entitled to receive postconviction relief based

on a claim that he relied on the misadvice of counsel that his plea would have no adverse sentencing effect should he decide to commit future crimes. To rule otherwise would be to encourage recidivism and frustrate the purpose of the statutory sentencing scheme which enhances sentences based on past criminal behavior.").

The First District's reliance on cases regarding misadvice about other collateral consequences is misplaced as those cases can be easily distinguished. The consequences of misadvice regarding whether a plea would have an effect on permanent citizenship, deportation, civil commitment pursuant to the Sexually Violent Predators Act, eligibility for gain time, occupational licensing, employment as a correctional officer, or loss of the right to vote, is fixed at the time of plea and are not contingent on events which may or may not occur. Additionally, the misadvice related to a consequence which resulted from the plea or conviction itself, not the subsequent conduct of the defendant. The consequence was not conditioned on the defendant re-offending. However, when a defendant alleges misadvice about future sentence enhancement, it is entirely within the defendant's control to avoid the enhancement by not re-offending. Justice Cantero recognized this

distinction in his concurring opinion in Bates v. State, 887 So.2d 1214 (Fla. 2004), stating that:

As several district courts have recognized, a fundamental difference exists between incorrect advice about collateral consequences of a plea such as deportation and loss of employment and incorrect advice about future crimes. In the former cases, the consequences, while collateral to the conviction, are immediate, result directly from the plea at issue, and occur regardless of the defendant's future conduct. When the consequence is a sentence enhancement for a future crime, however, it is contingent on the commission of another felony, which may never occur. **It is the defendant's decision to commit another felony, not the wrong advice, that produces the enhanced sentence.**

Id. at 1223. (Emphasis added).

Accordingly, the First District's decision in the case at bar and the Fourth District's decision in Burns v. State, 826 So.2d 1055, (Fla. 4th DCA 2002); Ghanavati v. State, 820 So.2d 989(Fla. 4th DCA 2002); Murphy v. State, 820 So.2d 375 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002); Love v. State, 814 So.2d 475 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002); Jones v. State, 814 So.2d 446 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), allowing defendants in post-conviction motions to present claims of ineffective assistance of counsel or involuntariness of a plea because of misadvice of the sentencing enhancing consequences of the plea in subsequent proceedings is contrary to public policy, and those cases should be overruled. This Court should affirm the reasoning of the Second, Third, and Fifth District Courts of

Appeal, and hold that claims of misadvice regarding the future sentencing enhancing consequences of a plea on subsequent crimes is not cognizable in a post conviction motion.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully submits the decision of the First District Court of Appeal in the case at bar should be overruled, and the order entered in the trial court should be affirmed.