IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. SC05-516

HERBERT DICKEY,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER
FLA. BAR NO. 197890
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

:

Petitioner,

:

v. : CASE NO. SC05-516

HERBERT DICKEY, :

:

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the defendant before the trial court and the appellant in the lower tribunal. A one volume record on appeal will be referred to as "I R," followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

Attached hereto as an appendix is the opinion of the lower tribunal, which has been reported as <u>Dickey v. State</u>, 30 Fla. L. Weekly D443 (Fla. 1st DCA Feb. 15, 2005). This brief is being submitted in Word format and electronically.

Petitioner=s Brief on the Merits will be referred to as APB,@ followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent agrees with petitioners recitation of the history of this case (PB at 1-4).

By unreported order issued along with the opinion, the lower tribunal appointed this Office to represent respondent in this Court.

III SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower tribunals opinion in this case properly held that where a defendant claims that his attorney gave him affirmative misadvice that his plea could not be used to later enhance future sentences, the defendant has set forth an actionable claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

The standard of review is de novo, since this case involves only a question of law.

The decision below is correct. The law is clear that where an attorney offers affirmative misadvice on some collateral matter (such as becoming a citizen or possible deportation or involuntary civil commitment as a sex offender or eligibility for gain time or obtaining a license or certification as a correctional officer or losing the right to vote), and the defendant relies on that misadvice in deciding whether to enter a plea, the defendant has set forth a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel and is entitled to a hearing on his request to withdraw his plea.

There is no reason why the result should not be the same where the attorney misadvises the defendant that his plea cannot be used to enhance a future sentence. The Fourth District has agreed with respondents position and held that a defendant who alleges that his attorney affirmatively

misadvised him that a plea to a crime could never be used to enhance a future sentence

has set forth a claim for postconviction relief. The Second and Third Districts have held to the contrary, but their reasoning is flawed.

Petitioner has failed to show how this type of affirmative misadvice is any different from affirmative misadvice concerning citizenship or possible deportation or involuntary civil commitment as a sex offender or eligibility for gain time or obtaining an occupational license or being employed as a correctional officer or losing the right to vote.

All of these consequences, whether one characterizes them as Adirect® or Acollateral,® flow from the entry of the plea. Some of these may also be Atoo attenuated® from the plea, but that does not matter, because the courts have recognized that if the defendant relies on his attorneys affirmative misadvice, that he will not be subject to these various consequences, then he is entitled to relief when he realizes that he is subject to these various consequences.

There are no public policy interests harmed by granting relief in these cases, unless as a matter of public policy we want to encourage defense lawyers to lie to their clients. To

the contrary, public policy should favor trust in the criminal justice system to ensure that a particular criminal defendant enters his or her plea voluntarily, so that the conviction will become final and not subject to collateral attack.

Courts should not decide the rights of individual litigants based upon some nebulous view of Apublic policy.@

Rather, cases should be decided on their facts, in light of protecting the defendant=s constitutional rights.

This Court has set forth rules to guarantee that a defendant—s plea is voluntary, and placed the burden on the trial judge to ensure that it is voluntary. If this Court is to decide cases solely on public policy, then we might as well discard these rules and all of the substantial body of case law regarding the voluntariness of a plea and the substantial body of case law regarding the role of defense counsel in rendering effective assistance of counsel to the client.

The states reliance on public policy improperly denigrates respondents constitutional rights. A plea of guilty is more than a grumbling admission of misconduct. It involves the waiver of important constitutional rights.

Competent counsel must be provided to a defendant in order for him or her to decide whether it is in his or her best interests to enter a plea.

In order for our system of justice to function properly, it is essential that counsel render competent advice in order for the plea to be deemed voluntary. Where counsel renders affirmative misadvice, counsel cannot by definition be competent, and so the voluntariness of the plea becomes suspect and the defendant can easily allege prejudice from his counsel=s misadvice.

The view that granting relief in these cases would encourage defendants to commit future crimes is incorrect. It would be more logical to say that, if an attorney misadvises the client that a particular conviction could never be used to enhance a future sentence, the client would believe that he or she could commit further crimes without fear of receiving an enhanced sentence. Since the purpose of the habitual offender statute is to punish recidivism, that purpose is thwarted if the attorney misadvises the defendant that he or she cannot be punished in the future as a recidivist.

This Court must accept the First and Fourth Districts=
view and hold that where a defendant alleges that his
attorney=s affirmative misadvice that a plea cannot be used to
enhance a future sentence caused him to enter the plea, he is
entitled to relief.

This Court must answer the certified question in the

affirmative.

IV ARGUMENT

ALLEGATIONS OF AFFIRMATIVE MISADVICE BY TRIAL COUNSEL ON THE SENTENCE-ENHANCING CONSEQUENCES OF A DEFENDANT'S PLEA FOR FUTURE CRIMINAL BEHAVIOR IN AN OTHERWISE FACIALLY SUFFICIENT MOTION ARE COGNIZABLE AS AN INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIM.

The issue before the lower tribunal was whether respondent had set forth a claim for relief where he alleged that his counsel had misadvised him as to the ramifications of his 1996 pleas to two Leon County felonies, which were used later to enhance a sentence in Alabama.

The First District in this case receded from its previous position in <u>Bates v. State</u>, 818 So. 2d 626 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002), quashed 887 So. 2d 1214 (Fla. 2004), and held that respondent had set forth an actionable claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. The lower tribunal had previously held in <u>Joyner v. State</u>, 795 So. 2d 267, 268 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001), that defense counsel—s affirmative misadvice that a youthful offender adjudication did not count as a prior conviction **A**for future repercussions@ set forth a valid claim for relief.

The <u>standard of review</u> in this case is de novo, since this case involves only a question of law. <u>City of</u>

Jacksonville v. Cook, 765 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000).

BACKGROUND CASES FROM THIS COURT

The law from this Court has developed to a stage that where an attorney offers <u>affirmative misadvice</u>, as opposed to no advice

at all, and the defendant relies on that <u>affirmative misadvice</u> in deciding whether to enter a plea, then the defendant has set forth a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel and is entitled to withdraw his plea.

In <u>Major v. State</u>, 814 So. 2d 424 (Fla. 2002), this Court held that defense counsel has no duty to inform his or her client that if the client enters a plea in the pending, that conviction may cause a sentence for a future crime to be enhanced, because the possibility of future enhancement was a collateral, not direct, consequence of the plea. <u>Major</u> left open the question presented here -- where the lawyer gives <u>affirmative misadvice</u> that the plea <u>cannot</u> be used to enhance a future sentence, is the defendant entitled to relief.

In <u>State v. Ginebra</u>, 511 So. 2d 960 (Fla. 1987), this Court held that a defendant who is not a U.S. citizen cannot collaterally attack his plea on the grounds that his lawyer failed to advise him that his plea could lead to deportation. State v. Ginebra also left open the question presented here.

Id at 962, note 6. But in State v. Sallato, 519 So. 2d 605 (Fla. 1988), this Court indicated that affirmative misadvice about the effect of a plea on possible deportation may set forth a claim for relief.

Ten years later, in <u>State v. Leroux</u>, 689 So. 2d 235, 236 (Fla. 1997), this Court set forth the general rule regarding the effect of affirmative misadvice from a defense lawyer which leads a defendant to enter a plea:

Misrepresentations by counsel as to the length of a sentence or eligibility for gain time can be the basis for postconviction relief in the form of leave to withdraw a guilty plea.

The same rule should apply where a lawyer affirmatively misadvises a client that his plea can never be used to enhance a sentence for a future crime. Such affirmative misadvice goes to the heart of the voluntariness of the plea, just like affirmative misadvice regarding the amount of time the

¹State v. Ginebra was also superceded by Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.172(c)(8). See State v. DeAbreu, 613 So. 2d 453 (Fla. 1993).

defendant will have to serve in prison if he enters a plea.²

 $^{^2{\}rm The~lower~tribunal~has~recognized~that~the~latter~would~set~forth~a~claim~for~relief.~See~Romero~v.~State,~729~So.~2d~502~(Fla.~1^{\rm st}~DCA~1999);~and~Burnham~v.~State,~702~So.~2d~303~(Fla.~1^{\rm st}~DCA~1997).}$

While it is true that the district courts of appeal are split on the precise issue presented here, the Fourth District=s position supports respondent=s claim for relief.

THE FOURTH DISTRICT S POSITION

In <u>Smith v. State</u>, 784 So. 2d 460 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), the defendant entered a plea in 1994 to aggravated battery and three misdemeanors in exchange for a sentence of time served. The aggravated battery conviction was later used to declare him to be

an habitual violent offender on a subsequent crime.

Mr. Smith filed a motion for postconviction relief and alleged that his attorney on the 1994 aggravated battery had told him that crime could never be used as a prior conviction in state or federal court. He further alleged that he would not have entered a plea if he had known that the aggravated battery could be used to enhance a sentence for a subsequent crime. The Fourth District held that his allegations had set forth a claim for relief. Accord: Jones v. State, 814 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001).

In <u>Love v. State</u>, 814 So. 2d 475 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002), the defendant entered a plea in 1987 in state court to attempted trafficking in cocaine. In 1995, he was sentenced in federal court for a new crime, and the 1987 conviction was used to

enhance his federal sentence.

Mr. Love filed postconviction motions alleging that his attorney on the 1987 Florida crime affirmatively misadvised him that a plea of nolo contendere was not the same as a plea of guilty, and that a nolo plea could not be used against him in any future proceedings. He also alleged that he would not have entered his plea to the 1987 Florida crime if he had known the full consequences of his plea.

The Fourth District held that Mr. Love=s allegation of affirmative misadvice from his counsel had set forth a claim for

relief. Accord: Murphy v. State, 820 So. 2d 375, 376 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002): Aaffirmative misadvice, regarding even collateral consequences of a plea, may form the basis for withdrawing the plea.@

In <u>Ghanavati v. State</u>, 820 So. 2d 989 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002), a deportation case, the defendant-s motion for postconviction relief included an affidavit from his lawyer saying that the lawyer had advised him that his plea with adjudication withheld would cause him no Afurther repercussions at all arising from or relating to the charges or the plea itself. The defendant also swore in an affidavit that he would not have entered the plea if he had known of the deportation consequences. The Fourth District reversed for a hearing and

summed up its position in such cases, 820 So. 2d at 991:

When a defendant enters a plea in reliance on affirmative misadvice and demonstrates that he or she was thereby prejudiced, the defendant may be entitled to withdraw the plea even if the misadvice concerns a collateral consequence as to which the trial court was under no obligation to advise him or her.

In <u>Burns v. State</u>, 826 So. 2d 1055, 1056 (Fla. 4^{th} DCA 2002), the Fourth District adhered to its position:

When a defendant enters a plea in reliance on affirmative misadvice and demonstrates that he was thereby prejudiced, the defendant may seek to withdraw the plea even if the misadvice concerns collateral consequences as to which the trial court was under no obligation to advise.

In <u>Smith v. State</u>, 829 So. 2d 940, 941 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002), review pending case no. SC02-2492, the Fourth District again adhered to its position:

This Court has treated affirmative misadvice of counsel differently from the mere failure to advise of enhancement consequences and has found it cognizable in a motion for postconviction relief.

THE SECOND DISTRICT=S POSITION

The Second District had previously granted relief where the defendant alleged that his attorney erroneously told him he would not subject to a Jimmy Ryce commitment, Roberti v. State, 782 So. 2d 919 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2001), and where the defendant alleged that his attorney mis-informed him that he would receive gain time against a mandatory minimum sentence,

Ray v. State, 480 So. 2d 228 (Fla. 2^{nd} DCA 1985).

However, in <u>Stansel v. State</u>, 825 So. 2d 1007 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2002), a majority of that court held that it would not grant relief to Mr. Stansel where he alleged that his attorney had misadvised him that his violation of probation could not be used as a prior conviction against him in a subsequent case, because a person has the duty not to commit future crimes.⁴

THE THIRD DISTRICT-S POSITION

The Third District has taken a position contrary to the Fourth District. In a line of cases commencing with Rhodes v.

³Likewise, in Walkup v. State, 822 So. 2d 524 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2002), the Second District granted relief defendant entered a negotiated plea to the lesser charge of attempted capital sexual battery. He later alleged that his counsel had told him if he did not enter a plea, he would be subject to Jimmy Ryce commitment. The court cited Roberti and reversed for an evidentiary hearing at which Mr. Walkup would have to prove that his attorney=s misadvice had caused him to enter the plea.

⁴In Bates, Judge Allen, dissenting, stated that:

I confess some difficulty in following this logic. I can easily understand how giving a defendant this information might discourage him from entering a plea, but I have difficulty understanding how it might encourage him to commit crimes in the future.

⁸¹⁸ So. 2d at 632.

State, 701 So. 2d 388 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1997)⁵ and concluding with McPhee v. State, 823 So. 2d 160 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2002), review pending case no. SC02-1501, that court has held that even if an attorney gives his client affirmative misadvice about the collateral consequences of the plea, that fact does not set forth a valid claim for postconviction relief.

The Second and Third Districts position on the issue presented here is founded on Rhodes v. State, supra, that to warn a defendant that his present crime could be used to enhance a sentence on a future crime is an encouragement to the defendant to commit future crimes. That reasoning makes no sense. If a defendant heeds such a warning, he will not want to commit future crimes. Actually, the failure to warn is what encourages recidivism.

THE FIFTH DISTRICT=S POSITION

In McKowen v. State, 831 So. 2d 794 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002), the Fifth District aligned itself with the view of the Second

 $^{^5} including\ Woods\ v.\ State$, 806 So. 2d 621 (Fla. 3^{rd} DCA 2002), review denied 886 So. 2d 228 (Fla. 2004); Scott v. State, 813 So. 2d 1025 (Fla. 3^{rd} DCA 2002), review pending case no. SC02-1043); and Cifuentes v. State, 816 So. 2d 804 (Fla. 3^{rd} DCA 2002), review pending case no. SC02-1136).

⁶See Judge Allen=s comments in *Bates*, quoted in footnote 4, supra. Judge Northcutt, dissenting in Stansel, supra, 825 So. 2d at 1010, agreed with Judge Allen.

and Third Districts, without saying why.

THE LAW IS IN HOPELESS DISARRAY

Thus, the current state of the case law in Florida regarding affirmative misadvice by defense counsel is in hopeless disarray. The Districts are split as to whether affirmative misadvice as to the use of a plea to enhance a later sentence constitutes a claim for relief. As noted by the lower tribunal, the outcome is different if it involves affirmative misadvice about:

- \$ becoming a citizen
- \$ being deported
- \$ being committed under the Jimmy Ryce Act
- \$ being ineligible for gain time
- \$ obtaining a license
- \$ being employed as a correctional officer
- \$ losing the right to vote.

The rules should be the same for all of these collateral consequences of a plea. Where a defendant alleges that his attorney-s affirmative misadvice on some collateral consequence of the plea caused him to enter the plea, he is entitled to relief. There is no reason why the result should not be the

 $^{^{7}}$ Appendix at 4.

same

in the instant case. The Fourth Districts view on the issue presented here is consistent with the above cases as it pertains to misadvising a defendant about the use of his plea to enhance future sentences. The contrary view of the Second and Third District is illogical and not consistent with the above cases.⁸

THE STATE=S POSITION IS WITHOUT MERIT

Petitioner has not disputed that where an attorney offers affirmative misadvice on some collateral matter (such as possible deportation or involuntary civil commitment as a sex offender or eligibility for gain time or registration as a sex offender) and the defendant relies on that misadvice in deciding whether to enter a plea, then the defendant has suffered harm (PB at 9).

However, petitioner argues, as it did in Bates, supra, that affirmative misadvice concerning the effect of a conviction on

⁸On January 5, 2005, this Court ordered the parties in the cases pending on this issue (*Cifuentes*, case no. SC02-1136, *McPhee*, case no. SC02-1501, *Scott*, case no. SC02-1043, and *State*

v. Smith, case no. SC02-2492) to state whether their petitions for relief were timely-filed in light of Bates.

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